IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDGID J. WHIFE

FEB 19 1988

CLERK, SUPREMA COURT

Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR

CASE NO: 69-589

RE: Petition for Reinstatement of LEWIS M. WILLIAMS.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN A. WEISS
P.O. Box 1167
Tallahassee, FL 32302
(904) 681-9010
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner in these proceedings, Lewis M. Williams, will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Mr. Williams." The Florida Bar shall be referred to as such or as "the Bar."

References to the transcript of the final hearing will be by the designation TR-I for references to volume I of the transcript (July 6, 1987), and TR-II for references to volume II (July 7, 1987).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 6, 1986, Petitioner filed his Petition for Reinstatement in this Court. Final hearing on the petition was held on July 6 and 7, 1987.

Petitioner was suspended from membership in good standing in The Florida Bar on February 13, 1979, upon his conviction of four counts of felonious conduct. Those counts installed conspiracy, possession, and sale of cocaine and possession of two concealed firearms.

The Florida Bar never brought proceedings against Petitioner seeking disbarment.

At the time of his conviction, Petitioner had been practicing law in Miami for over 20 years with no prior criminal convictions. Petitioner's disciplinary history consisted of a private reprimand in the early 1960s.

In February 1980, Petitioner began his 10-year sentence. In March 1982 he was assigned to a work release program in Lantana, Florida. From November 1982 until April 1985, Petitioner was on parole (TR-I, 75-77).

Petitioner's civil rights were restored in May 1985 (TR-I, 78).

Petitioner acknowledges that he is guilty of the crimes for which he was convicted and accepts responsibility for his conduct (TR-I, 79). From late 1982 until present, Petitioner has worked as a free-lance law clerk and paralegal for numerous Miami lawyers. His duties include research, drafting pleadings,

running errands, drafting discovery, and drafting civil and criminal appeals (TR-I, 102-107).

There was no evidence submitted during final hearing to indicate that Petitioner has engaged in the unauthorized practice of law or that he did not abide by The Florida Bar's reporting requirements for suspended lawyers working as a law clerk.

Petitioner passed the ethics portion of The Florida Bar examination on March 13, 1987.

At final hearing, Petitioner presented 15 witnesses on his behalf, nine of whom were lawyers. Of the non-lawyers, four were former clients, one was a well-respected bondsman, and the sixth was the president of the Latin Division of the United Cerebral Palsy Fund in Miami.

All of Petitioner's witnesses were aware that he was a convicted felon and was not a member in good standing of The Florida Bar. All attested to his good character and recommended his reinstatement.

One of the lawyers testifying in Petitioner's behalf, Louis Casuso, was the lead prosecutor in the case that led to Petitioner's conviction.

The Bar's witnesses were limited to two assistant state attorneys, neither of whom had any information whatsoever about Petitioner's actions since 1980, one private practitioner (Douglas Williams) who testified about Petitioner's general reputation but who freely admitted that he did not know anything at all about the steps Petitioner had taken to rehabilitate

himself (TR-II, 20), and Gary J. McDaniel, a private investigator that Petitioner hired in 1979 and with whom Petitioner had a dispute over McDaniel's bill.

None of the Bar's witnesses had any information whatsoever to counter Petitioner's witnesses' testimony that Petitioner has rehabilitated himself over the last nine years.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

With the exception of Petitioner's unclear recollection about a minor incident in November 1982, the only grounds listed by the referee for her recommendation that Petitioner be denied reinstatement are events that occurred prior to or within one year of his February 1979 suspension. The referee completely ignored the rehabilitation that Petitioner has undergone since his release from prison in November 1982--almost five years before final hearing in this cause.

Despite running two ads in the Miami <u>News</u> soliciting information on Petitioner's reinstatement, and despite over 190 hours of investigative time, The Florida Bar was unable to obtain a single witness that could rebut any of the evidence presented to the referee that Petitioner has rehabilitated himself since his release from prison.

By focusing on Petitioner's illegal conduct before his suspension, and on minor rules violations that occurred shortly after his suspension, the referee ignored the purpose of disciplinary proceedings as set forth by Rule 3-7.9(g) of the Rules of Discipline. That rule states that the matter to be decided in reinstatement proceedings "shall be the fitness of the Petitioner to resume the practice of law."

The referee ignored Petitioner's present fitness to resume the practice of law, as demonstrated by the testimony of 15 witnesses, nine of whom were lawyers, and has focused upon conduct occurring seven to nine years ago as the basis for denying reinstatement.

Petitioner should not be assessed an hourly salary in costs paid by The Florida Bar to its investigators. Rule 3-7.5(k)(1) of the Rules of Discipline only authorizes the assessment of court reporter's fees (the transcript of the final hearing was paid by Petitioner), copy costs, witness fees and travel expenses, and the referee's and the Bar counsel's travel expenses.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE IGNORED THE OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE BEFORE HER THAT PETITIONER HAS REHABILITATED HIMSELF SINCE HIS SUSPENSION IN 1979 AND ERRONEOUSLY RECOMMENDED PETITIONER BE DENIED REINSTATEMENT

The issue to be decided in reinstatement proceedings "shall be the fitness of the Petitioner to resume the practice of law." Rule 3-7.9(g), Rules of Discipline. The proceedings are not intended to re-try the Petitioner for his past misconduct, but to determine his present fitness to practice law. Petition of Stalnaker, 9 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1942).

The Petitioner in reinstatement proceedings shows his present fitness to practice law by showing that he has rehabilitated himself, and that the likelihood of misconduct being repeated is slim. The Supreme Court has set forth the factors that should be considered in determining rehabilitation in Petition of Dawson, 131 So.2d 472 (Fla. 1961). Those factors are:

- Strict compliance with the specific conditions of the disciplinary order;
- Evidence of unimpeachable character and moral standing in the community;
- Clear evidence of a good reputation or professional ability;
- 4. Evidence of a lack of malice and ill feeling towards the Bar;
- 5. Personal assurances, supported by corroborating evidence, revealing a sense of repentance, as well as a desire and intention of the Petitioner to conduct himself in an exemplary fashion in the future; and

6. In cases involving misappropriation of funds, restitution.

Petitioner met the burden imposed on him by <u>Dawson</u> by the overwhelming weight of the evidence. In fact, Petitioner's evidence of rehabilitation is unrebutted.

Fifteen individuals testified on Petitioner's behalf at the final hearing. Among them were nine lawyers. All of the witnesses knew that Petitioner was a convicted felon, however, some were not aware of the particulars. All attested to Petitioner's honesty, good character, and integrity. All testified that should he be reinstated, they would refer clients to him and would have no problem entrusting him with escrow funds.

The lawyers testifying on Petitioner's behalf were all reputable members of The Florida Bar in good standing. They ranged from lawyers that had known Petitioner since law school to members who had known him a mere five years.

David Feliu, who was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1982, testified that he met Petitioner shortly after Feliu became a lawyer. At that time, Petitioner was clerking for Nat Barone. Mr. Feliu testified that "as a young lawyer, I was impressed by his level of honesty" (TR-I, 15). Petitioner impressed upon Mr. Feliu what a "valuable privilege" the practice of law is and how sorry Petitioner was to lose it (TR-I, 16). Mr. Feliu testified that Petitioner was tremendously regretful of his misconduct and evinced no bitterness towards the Bar.

John M. Thompson, a Florida lawyer since 1959, and whose wife is the former Mayor of Coral Gables, testified that Petitioner's attitude towards his misconduct was "totally remorseful" and that Petitioner did not "exhibit anger or frustration" over his conviction and suspension (TR-I, 24, 25). Petitioner showed no bitterness or hostility to The Florida Bar and is "probably more current" on recent developments in the law than Mr. Thompson.

Richard H. Reynolds, who was admitted to the Bar in 1955, testified that prior to his suspension Petitioner was an excellent lawyer and had an "absolutely first-rate" reputation for integrity and honesty. Since his suspension, Petitioner has clerked for Mr. Reynolds and his work product was "excellent." Mr. Reynolds further testified that Petitioner "absolutely" accepted responsibility for his wrong-doing, that he evinced "total regret and sorrow" for what he did, and that he showed no bitterness towards The Florida Bar.

Mr. Reynolds testified that upon reinstatement, he would hire Petitioner as an associate in his law office.

The lead prosecutor in Petitioner's trial, Louis Casuso, also testified in Petitioner's behalf. Mr. Casuso testified that, despite his role as lead prosecutor, Petitioner has always been friendly towards him and that Mr. Casuso considered him an honest person. Should Petitioner be reinstated, Mr. Casuso would refer clients to him and would consider him an asset to the Bar.

Francis P. Clarke has only known Petitioner three years. His association with Petitioner has been limited to using Petitioner as a law clerk. Mr. Clarke testified that Petitioner did "very good research" and put out an excellent work product. Mr. Clarke further testified that he thought Petitioner was honest, was a person of good moral character, and Mr. Clarke would have no hesitancy to refer clients to Petitioner or to entrust escrow funds to him should he be reinstated.

Fred W. Droese, a lawyer in Florida since 1977 (and in California since 1972), has used Petitioner as a paralegal during the past few years. Mr. Droese attested to the quality work product and excellent skills shown by Petitioner while clerking. Mr. Droese testified that he considered Petitioner an honest person who possessed good moral character. He has never heard Petitioner indicate any bitterness or animosity towards The Florida Bar. Finally, Mr. Droese would refer clients to Petitioner and would have no hesitancy to sit at counsel table with Petitioner as co-counsel.

Jose Ferrer, who was admitted in 1978 and for whom Petitioner started working as a paralegal in 1983, spoke very highly of Petitioner. Mr. Ferrer testified that when he set up his law office that:

at the beginning, if I didn't have his advice, I would have felt very alone, because through his advice, which was always very ethical and his knowledge of the law, then I acquired knowledge and developed my career much better. (TR-I, 138)

Mr. Ferrer considers Petitioner "honest and forthright." He would have no hesitancy referring clients to Petitioner or entrusting escrow funds to him.

Nathaniel L. Barone was the next lawyer to testify on Petitioner's behalf. Mr. Barone has been admitted to The Florida Bar since 1961 and has known Petitioner since law school. Mr. Barone testified that before his suspension Petitioner was an excellent lawyer and had an excellent reputation for integrity and honesty.

When Petitioner was paroled in November 1982, Mr. Barone hired Petitioner as a law clerk. Mr. Barone stated that Petitioner accepted his clerk status "very graciously and insisted that he would do anything to stay in the practice of law" (TR-I, 183). Petitioner's work product has been "superior."

Mr. Barone testified that Petitioner "has been an extremely contrite lawyer" since his conviction and has never evinced any bitterness towards The Florida Bar.

Mr. Barone stated that he would ask Mr. Williams to associate in Mr. Barone's law office should he be reinstated.

Charles H. Snowden, a former municipal judge and member of the Florida Legislature, also testified for Petitioner. Mr. Snowden has known Petitioner for 15 to 20 years and considered his integrity as being of the "highest level." Mr. Snowden would have no hesitancy to associate Petitioner as co-counsel, to refer clients to him, or to entrust escrow funds to him.

Magna Avila, president of the Latin Division of the United Cerebral Palsy fund in Miami, testified about Petitioner's volunteer work on behalf of that organization over the last three or four years. Ms. Avila thinks Petitioner "is a good man." Petitioner is an active worker for her organization and she considers him an honest individual. She expressed no hesitancy about referring clients to him.

Similarly, Bobby Maynard, who has been a bondsman in Miami for 31 years, testified that he considered Petitioner an honest individual who would be an asset to the Bar if reinstated.

Petitioner's witnesses also included four former clients who have maintained contact with him since his suspension. They included William Ronald Bullough, the president of several businesses who has known Petitioner for 36 years; Merrill Preston Harris, who has known Petitioner 30 years and who hired Petitioner to do the legal work on a \$6,000,000 project in 1972; Charles Sherman Adler, an insurance agent who over a 20-year period used Petitioner numerous times as his personal lawyer and who recommended him as a lawyer for many of Mr. Adler's insured; and Orlando Molina, a Cuban-American who operates a towing service.

All four former clients attested to the excellent work product that Petitioner had given them while he was their lawyer, all expressed no doubts about Petitioner's honesty, and all indicated their desire to hire him again as their lawyer should he be reinstated.

Finally, Petitioner testified in his behalf. He evinced an attitude of repentance, responsibility for his wrong-doing, and acceptance of his discipline, and expressed a desire to conduct himself in a forthright manner should he be reinstated.

Despite two ads in the Miami Review, 192 hours of investigator and auditor time, and a mail-out of Petitioner's Petitioner for Reinstatement to 31 Bar presidents and grievance committee chairmen, The Florida Bar itself was able to produce but one witness, Douglas Williams, to testify against Petitioner. And that witness had absolutely no information on Petitioner's rehabilitation. Mr. Williams has not spoken to Petitioner over the last eight years except for an occasional greeting in a hallway.

David Waksman and Kevin Digregory, the former of whom was listed in the Petition for Reinstatement, are a former and a present Assistant State Attorney. In essence, they stated that Petitioner should never be reinstated because he was once convicted of a felony. Neither individual has spent any time at all talking to Petitioner or any of his employers and neither has any evidence whatsoever regarding Petitioner's rehabilitation. Their opposition to Petitioner's reinstatement is based solely on policy grounds.

The Bar's only other witness was Gary McDaniel, a former investigator for Petitioner who is obviously bitter towards Petitioner. Mr. McDaniel was brought to the Bar's attention as a potential witness in Petitioner's Petition for Reinstatement.

Mr. McDaniel's testimony consisted primarily of unsubstantiated hearsay about Petitioner's alleged criminal activity before his conviction, and Petitioner's hiring of McDaniel to investigate the jurors in Petitioner's trial and in his co-defendant's trial.

Petitioner also testified before the referee. He clearly acknowledged his guilt and his responsibility for his conviction (TR-I, 79).

Petitioner testified as to his extensive work as a paralegal and a law clerk since his release from prison in 1982. From that point until now Petitioner has engaged as a full-time paralegal working for numerous Miami lawyers. All of his former employers that testified spoke highly of his knowledge and work product.

There was no evidence presented to the referee that Petitioner did not comply with The Florida Bar's law clerking notice provisions, or that Petitioner engaged in the unauthorized practice of law.

In addition to his exemplary work product as a law clerk, Petitioner described various charitable work that he has done, the most significant of which has been his work for the Latin division of the United Cerebral Palsy fund and his efforts on behalf of the Epiphany Church in fund-raising endeavors (TR-I, 200, 201). One of Petitioner's character witnesses, Magna Avila, the president of the Latin division of the United Cerebral Palsy fund, testified on his behalf (TR-I, 7-10).

Petitioner acknowledged that The Florida Bar "had no alternative" but to suspend him as a result of his felony conviction (TR-I, 206).

Petitioner also testified that he has taken and passed with a score of 88 (passing is 70) the professional ethics exam (TR-I, 115).

The referee, in denying reinstatement, chose to ignore the favorable testimony of Petitioner's 15 witnesses, and focused on a few inconsistencies among them. In essence, as was true in The Florida Bar v. Whitlock, 506 So.2d 400 (Fla. 1987), the referee chose to ignore the overwhelming weight of evidence of rehabilitation and focused on other factors that do not show a lack of rehabilitation.

The referee in her findings of fact listed six reasons for her negative recommendation. The first of these is that Petitioner did not strictly adhere to the requirements of the Integration Rule because he failed to furnish a copy of his order of suspension to his clients in early 1979. While Petitioner does not deny that he failed to comply with the rule, his testimony that he complied with the spirit of the rule was unrebutted. Specifically, Petitioner testified that he notified every client either verbally, telephonically, or by letter that he was suspended, and made arrangements to refer those who needed a lawyer to a different one (TR-I, 74).

Petitioner also testified that he was not familiar with the requirements of the Integration Rule as to winding down his practice and that neither The Florida Bar nor his lawyer advised him of the dictates of the Rule (TR-II, 23).

Petitioner urges this Court to ignore Petitioner's <u>de minimus</u>, violation of the Integration Rule in February 1979. First, The Florida Bar abdicated its responsibility of notifying Petitioner of the requirements of the Rule, and it doubly violated its duties by failing to follow upon Petitioner's omission. More significantly, however, is the fact that Petitioner's offense occurred in the early part of his suspension (i.e., nine years ago), and it does not now indicate a lack of rehabilitation. <u>The Florida Bar v. Inglis</u>, 471 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1975).

The referee's second stated reason for recommending a denial of Petitioner's reinstatement was the fact that he did not close his trust account until May 23, 1980, some four months after he was incarcerated. The Bar showed a check issued from that trust account to a physician on January 15, 1980.

At final hearing, Petitioner was unable to remember the details of the check, and the referee prohibited his speculating about its purpose. However, there was no allegation that the money disbursed from trust, \$150.00, was anything but proper.

For some reason, the referee found that Petitioner did not concede that the check was issued on his escrow account. However, a fair reading of Bar counsel's cross examination of Petitioner, belies that finding (TR-II, 207, 208).

Once again, Petitioner asks this Court to disregard this minor transgression, particularly in light of the fact that there

is no evidence of any impropriety in the handling of his trust account, because his offense took place in the early stages of his suspension and does not indicate a lack of rehabilitation.

Inglis, supra.

The referee's third stated reason for recommending a denial of reinstatement had to do with Petitioner's hiring of a private investigator to interview jurors in violation of Disciplinary Rule 7-108(D) of the Code of Professional Responsibility. Petitioner acknowledged his wrong-doing in this regard (TR-I, 246).

The referee considered Petitioner's violation of the code "especially significant" because numerous lawyers testifying at final hearing attested to Petitioner's knowledge of law and procedure.

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