### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

In Re:

LEWIS M. WILLIAMS

(Petition for Reinstatement)

Supreme Court Case No. 69,589

AFR / CLER BV

On Petition for Review of the Referee's Report in a Reinstatement Proceeding.

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

PATRICIA S. ETKIN Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

#

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

> As the relationship continued, we got to know Mr. Williams personally and he routinely stated that he was in touch with Poppo regularly, and they are trying to come up with investigative funds.

He [Petitioner] was receiving attorney fees from Poppo that were paid to the Law Firm of Pollack & Casuso, or whatever names they go by, and it continued on.

So his [Petitioner's] admissions were to me that he [Petitioner] was connected with Poppo, that he [Petitioner] knew Poppo's whereabouts. He (Petitioner) brought to me information with regard to some of the officers that were involved in corruption in the Miami Police area that were involved with his case as well as Ysidro Rodriguez's case.

Some of the leads he provided, we followed up on and we exchanged information with him [Petitioner]. (Emphasis added)

(McDANIEL, Tr-II at 46)

McDANIEL's testimony concerning Petitioner's relationship with Poppo is significant because it clearly demonstrates that even after his felony conviction and suspension from the practice of law, Petitioner maintained an association with and acted as an intermediary for persons involved in drug smuggling.

Moreover, McDANIEL's testimony concerning the nature and purpose for which he was retained in connection with investigating matters involving Petitioner's case further corroborates the private, unethical, side of Petitioner's character.

McDANIEL and Petitioner were in frequent communication with each other during the investigation involving RODRIGUEZ's case (McDANIEL, Tr. at 52). In November 1979, while RODRIGUEZ's investigation was pending and after Petitioner's conviction had been affirmed on appeal (WILLIAMS, Tr-II at 241), Petitioner retained McDANIEL to

investigate matters on behalf of himself and his codefendent, NURIA IZQUIERDO ("NURIA") (McDANIEL, Tr. at 53, 170).<sup>1</sup> Pursuant to this investigation McDANIEL was directed to locate and interview the jurors to determine if they had been prejudiced or dominated by any particular juror as well as to locate and interview the confidential informant (McDANIEL, Tr-II at 60; WILLIAMS, Tr-I at 241).

The trial court, however, had previously denied Petitioner's motion to disclose the confidential informant (WAKSMAN, Tr-II at 98) and access to the informant was, therefore, prohibited. McDANIEL first learned of the Court's ruling prohibiting access to the confidential informant from GEORGE LOPEZ, a police officer who was the controlling agent/officer for the informant and who was also present during Petitioner's arrest and was a witness in Petitioner's case (McDANIEL, Tr-II at 64).

> He [Lopez] told me that the Judge had ordered that the informant's identity not be stated, there he was not to testify and he was in fear of his safety, and that he would hold me responsible if something happened with regard to his safety.

(McDANIEL, Tr-II at 64).

Further, Petitioner's directive to McDANIEL to conduct postverdict interviews of jurors was improper. Disciplinary

<sup>1/</sup>JESUS AMATO, NURIA IZQUIERDO and Petitioner were codefendants, tried separately. NURIA and Petitioner were convicted (McDANIEL, TR-II at 55). AMATO owned the cocaine and made the deal (WILLIAMS TR-II at 243). AMATO was acquitted (McDANIEL, TR-II at 55).

Rule 7-108(D) of the Code of Professional Responsibility (in effect during the 1979-1980 period in question) and Ethical Cannon 7-29 to which the Rule refers provides:

After dismissal of the jury in a case with which he is connected, a lawyer shall not communicate with or cause another to communicate with any juror regarding the trial except to determine whether the verdict may be subject to legal challenge, in which event he shall scrupulously follow the procedure described and provided for in EC 7-29 hereof.

(Disciplinary Rule 7-108(D) of the Code of Professional Responsibility)

\* \* \*

Subject to any limitations imposed by law it is a lawyer's right, after the jury as been discharged, to interview the jurors solely to determine whether their verdict is subject to any legal challenge provided he has reason to believe that ground for such challenge may exist, and further provided that prior to any such interview made by him or under his direction, he shall file in the cause, and deliver a copy to the trial judge and opposing counsel, a notice of intention to interview such juror or jurors setting forth in such notice the name of each such juror. The scope of the interview should be restricted and caution should be used to avoid embarrassment to any juror and to avoid influencing his action in any subsequent jury service.

[Ethical Cannon 7-29 (emphasis added)] Petitioner has admitted that he directed McDANIEL to interview the jurors without ensuring that proper notice of intention to interview was filed (WILLIAMS, Tr-II at 246).

Petitioner's instructions to McDANIEL are particularly suspect when considering the testimony of his character witnesses who testified that Petitioner's knowledge of law and procedure was excellent (REYNOLDS, TR-I at 45; CLARKE, TR-I at 92; DROESE, TR-I at 123). In fact one of Petiti-

oner's character witnesses stated that Petitioner had a "tremendous knowledge of civil and criminal procedure. I think he could probably recite the rule books verbatim" (FELIU, Tr-I at 16). Thus, the question arises as to how an attorney with such a thorough comprehension of law and procedure could be unaware of the rules pertaining to postverdict interrogation of jurors.

The Bar maintains that Petitioner was fully aware of the rules governing postverdict juror interrogation as well as the impropriety in contacting a confidential informant in violation of the court's directive. Petitioner, however, chose to ignore these rules and accomplish indirectly, through McDANIEL, what he could not do directly. The Bar does not accept, nor is there any evidence in the record to support, Petitioner's suggestion that his actions in this regard were the result of "emotional unrest." On the contrary, Petitioner's actions reflect a calculated effort to circumvent the rules; such conduct is consistent with the private side of Petitioner's character, known only to a witness such as McDANIEL who was privy to this side of Petitioner's character.

Another example of the private, unethical, side of Petitioner's character is reflected in Petitioner's directive to McDANIEL to "feel out" the police officer and witness GEORGE LOPEZ (McDANIEL, Tr-II at 65, 66). In this manner, Petitioner attempted to utilize McDANIEL as an intermediary to solicit a bribe.

At a later point in his relationship with McDANIEL, Petitioner attempted to intimidate McDANIEL through the use of threats. Prior to surrendering to begin his prison sentence, Petitioner lead McDANIEL to believe that McDANIEL's bill for investigative services would be paid from referral fees which were being collected on his behalf by Gloria, a courthouse clerk (McDANIEL, Tr-II at 852-53). After repeated attempts to collect his bill from Petitioner had failed, McDANIEL directed his attorney to send Petitioner a demand letter. McDANIEL's attorney sent Petitioner a demand letter dated October 29, 1982. In response to this letter, Petitioner left a threatening telephone message with McDANIEL's telephone answering service, inquiring "how is your health?" (McDANIEL, TR-II at 85, 86, 140-142).

Another more recent example of Petitioner's use of threats or subtle intimidation occurred in June 1987, prior to the final hearing in this matter. Shortly after receiving a subpoena to attend the final hearing, McDANIEL received in the mail various documents, including a corporate document and a copy of his occupational license, with his street address, and on at least one document his suite number, circled (McDANIEL, TR-II at 131). McDANIEL operates his business through a post office box and does not publish a business street address (McDANIEL, TR-II at 132, 133). McDANIEL characterized the communication he received as a threat: it "is an indication that somebody knows exactly which office suite I have, which is very protected."

(McDANIEL, TR-II at 132). Based upon his knowledge of Petitioner, McDANIEL attributes this threatening communication to have been directed to him by Petitioner (McDANIEL, TR-II at 131, 132).

Both the 1987 communication and the 1982 verbal threat McDANIEL received from Petitioner are consistent with the private, unethical, side of Petitioner's character. In April 1986, several months before filing his petition for reinstatement, Petitioner settled the lawsuit that McDANIEL had filed against him to collect his fees. (WILLIAMS, TR-I 233, 235). The Bar suggests that after settling this civil matter with McDANIEL and satisfying the judgment, Petitioner did not anticipate that the Bar would inquire further concerning this debt and he did not, therefore, expect McDANIEL to appear as a witness in these proceedings. When he learned that McDANIEL had been subpoenaed to appear, and understandably concerned with the nature of McDANIEL's testimony, Petitioner let McDANIEL know in terms which were absolutely clear to McDANIEL that he could be located.

McDANIEL's comments concerning Petitioner's character best summarize the private side of Petitioner:

He lacks morality, he lacks -- he exhibits no professional respect or any professionalism that would be deserving of respect. To me, he is what justice is not about.

(McDANIEL, TR-II at 137)

Further, in commenting as to his opinion as to Petitioner's reputation for truth and veracity, McDANIEL stated

"my firsthand experience is that he is a liar" (McDANIEL, TR-II at 137).

Petitioner's representations to the referee at the final hearing, as well as his lack of candor with The Florida Bar in his response to discovery, are consistent with McDANIEL's comments concerning Petitioner's character and reputation for truth and veracity as demonstrated by the following:

(a) Who's Poppo?

When Petitioner was asked by his attorney at the final hearing about his relationship with Poppo, Petitioner gave the impression that he had little, if any, recollection of "Poppo".

> I don't know who he [McDANIEL] is talking about but I think the name coincided to a former client. Just a second. If somebody could help me out on who that guy was -- it's the same guy. I represented him some six or eight months prior thereto on a firearm possession and a small possession of cocaine. There was a jury trial with Wilkie Ferguson.

Alberto Dominguez -- that sounds like the same guy.

[Petitioner's counsel]: Did you know an individual named Poppo?

[Petitioner]: I think that's just a Latin name for father, a courtesy name. I am sure I heard the name before, but you hear it every day in the Latin community.

(WILLIAMS, TR-II at 192)

McDANIEL's correspondence to Petitioner dated September 12, 1979 (PET EX 6) corroborates McDANIEL's testimony and reflects that Petitioner was involved in assisting

McDANIEL's investigation in RODRIGUEZ's case. Page 3 of McDANIEL's letter to Petitioner (PET EX 6) refers to Poppo in a manner which substantiates Petitioner's familiarity with Poppo.<sup>2</sup> In fact, McDANIEL suggests the scheduling of a meeting with Poppo in Petitioner's office. Accordingly, it is apparent that Petitioner lacked candor in his testimony before the referee concerning his knowledge of or involvement with Poppo.

# (b) Obtaining counsel for RODRIGUEZ and payment of RODRIGUEZ's legal fees.

Although at final hearing Petitioner admitted that he was trying to find a lawyer for RODRIGUEZ (WILLIAMS, TR-II at 238, 239), Petitioner denied any knowledge as to how RODRIGUEZ came to be represented by PAUL POLLACK's office.

> [Petitioner]: . . . I offered it to Mr. Barone and he wouldn't take it. I offered it to Judge Stedman and he wouldn't take it.

> It finally ended up in Paul Pollack's office. Paul Pollack has a very busy law firm. He has several ex-prosecutors working for him. They ended up with the case somehow. (emphasis added)

(TR-II at 238)

\* \* \*

[Bar Counsel]: When you indicated that Mr. Rodriguez had asked you about an attorney, did you recommend an attorney to him?

[Petitioner]: I recommended two or three lawyers. It never jelled.

[Bar Counsel]: Who did you recommend?

2/Both "Poppa" and "Poppo" refer to the same person, Alberto Dominguez, and are used interchangeably.

[Petitioner]: Mr. Barone, for one. He wouldn't take the case.

Eventually, somehow he got around to Pollack's office.

[Bar Counsel] How did he get to Mr. Pollack's office?

[Petitioner]: I don't know.

[Bar Counsel]: Did you recommend Louis Casuso?

[Petitioner]: No.

[Bar Counsel]: Did you recommend Mr. Pollack?

[Petitioner]: No.

(Tr-I at 244, 245)

\* \* \*

[Bar Counsel]: You are saying Mr. Rodriguez got to Mr. Pollack on his own?

[Petitioner]: I don't know how he got to him. he may have been appointed as a special public defender . . .

(TR-I at 245)

Petitioner's denial of involvement in recommending and/or securing PAUL POLLACK's firm as counsel for RODRIGUEZ is refuted by McDANIEL in his detailed testimony concerning his visit to PAUL POLLACK's office which, McDANIEL claims, was arranged by Petitioner (McDANIEL, Tr-II at 49, 51).

Moreover, in response to inquiry by Bar Counsel, Petitioner initially denied both paying POLLACK any fees as well as handling <u>any money on RODRIGUEZ's behalf</u> (WILLIAMS, TR-II at 245, emphasis added). However this position is contradicted by Petitioner's subsequent testimony that "somebody", he couldn't remember who, gave him \$1,000.00

cash for RODRIGUEZ's legal fees (WILLIAMS, TR-II at 191) which was given to Carling Stedman, one of the attorneys Petitioner had contacted, as a deposit. (WILLIAMS, TR-II at 191).

[Petitioner's Counsel]: How much was the deposit? [Petitioner]: One thousand dollars.

[Petitioner's Counsel]: How did he [Carling Stedman] get that one thousand dollars?

[Petitioner]: I gave it to him

[Petitioner's Counsel]: Where did you get the one thousand dollars?

[Petitioner]: That was the same one thousand dollars that had been floating around for about a week, trying to find a lawyer. I believe his wife gave it to me.

(TR-II at 191)

Petitioner's lack of candor in this regard is further substantiated by the testimony of McDANIEL wherein McDANIEL describes, in detail, a meeting, attended by himself, Paul POLLACK, Petitioner and NURIA where, in Petitioner's presence, Pollack received SIX THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$6,300.00) for legal fees for representing RODRIGUEZ (McDANIEL, Tr-II at 52).

Further, in his response to a Bar Interrogatory requesting the address of any real property in which Petitioner owned, or subsequently acquired, an interest in since January 1979, Petitioner failed to include a duplex (rental property) which he owned on January 1, 1979. Petitioner transferred title to the property to his son on January 2, 1979. (TR-I at 229; Interrogatory No. 5).

Was Petitioner's omission merely an oversight? Apparently not. An intentional omission is suggested by the fact that Petitioner continued to pay the taxes, collect the rent and maintain the property (WILLIAMS, TR-I at 201, 229-230) and yet he failed to include these payments as monthly obligations (expenses) in response to another Bar Interrogatory (Interrogatory No. 13).

Certainly in reinstatement proceedings where character, truth and veracity is <u>the</u> issue, it is reasonable to expect a petitioner to be most candid and forthright in responding to discovery so as to avoid the possible conclusion that a truthful answer might lead to disclosure of a fact which the Petitioner preferred to be kept hidden. For example, in this case Petitioner's response might have been an attempt to avoid disclosure of the fact that he owned or is involved with property which has been the subject of numerous Housing Code violations (WILLIAMS, TR-I at 231-232).

In addition, The Florida Bar established at the final hearing that Petitioner failed to strictly comply with the suspension order. In his testimony in this proceeding Petitioner attempted to give the impression that he had scrupulously complied with his suspension order and ceased practicing law in May 1979, upon receipt of the Court order denying his petition for clarification pursuant to which he was suspended effective February 1979. (WILLIAMS, TR-II at 73, TR-II at 23).

Rule 11.10(7), Integration Rule of The Florida Bar which

was in effect at the time Petitioner was suspended, required:

Upon service on the respondent of an order of disbarment, suspension, resignation for cause, temporary suspension, or placement on the inactive list, the <u>respondent shall</u>, unless this requirement is waived or modified in the court's order, forthwith furnish a copy of the order to all of his clients with matters pending in the respondent's practice, and within 30 days after service of the order, the respondent shall furnish staff counsel of The Florida Bar with a sworn affidavit listing the names and addresses of all clients who have furnished copies of the order.

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